# The ACCISMON Checklist

A Practical Reference for Parents and Teachers

PAULA KLUTH, Ph.D.

with John Shouse

# The Autism Checklist

# The Autism Checklist

# A Practical Reference for Parents and Teachers

Paula Kluth with John Shouse



Copyright © 2009 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc. All rights reserved.

Published by Jossey-Bass A Wiley Imprint 989 Market Street, San Francisco, CA 94103-1741—www.josseybass.com

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning, or otherwise, except as permitted under Section 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without either the prior written permission of the publisher, or authorization through payment of the appropriate per-copy fee to the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc., 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, 978-750-8400, fax 978-646-8600, or on the Web at www.copyright.com. Requests to the publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, 201-748-6011, fax 201-748-6008, or online at www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

Readers should be aware that Internet Web sites offered as citations and/or sources for further information may have changed or disappeared between the time this was written and when it is read.

Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty: While the publisher and author have used their best efforts in preparing this book, they make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this book and specifically disclaim any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. No warranty may be created or extended by sales representatives or written sales materials. The advice and strategies contained herein may not be suitable for your situation. You should consult with a professional where appropriate. Neither the publisher nor author shall be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damages, including but not limited to special, incidental, consequential, or other damages.

Jossey-Bass books and products are available through most bookstores. To contact Jossey-Bass directly call our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at 800-956-7739, outside the U.S. at 317-572-3986, or fax 317-572-4002.

Jossey-Bass also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats. Some content that appears in print may not be available in electronic books.

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Kluth, Paula.

The autism checklist: a practical reference for parents and teachers / Paula Kluth John Shouse.—1st ed.

p. cm.

Includes bibliographical references and index.

ISBN 978-0-470-43408-6 (pbk.)

1. Autistic children—Education—United States. 2. Autistic youth—Education—United States. 3. Home and school—United States. I. Shouse, John. II. Title.

LC4718.K573 2009 371.94—dc22

2009021543

Printed in the United States of America

FIRST EDITION

PB Printing 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

# **Contents**

Acknowledgments	ix
About the Authors	хi
ntroduction	xiii
1. Basic Information on Autism and Asperger Syndrome	1
Introduction	2
1.1. What We Know About Autism	5
1.2. What Do We Mean by the Autism Spectrum?	7
1.3. Conditions Commonly Associated with Autism	9
1.4. Positive Traits Associated with Autism	10
1.5. Early Indicators of Autism	12
1.6. Autism Myths Versus Autism Facts	15
1.7. Tools Used in Autism Screening and Diagnosis	19
1.8. Social Differences	24
1.9. Communication Differences	27
1.10. Movement Differences	30
1.11. Sensory Differences and Sensitivity	33
1.12. Passions, Interests, and Rituals	36
2. Checklists for Parents	39
Introduction	40
2.1. After Diagnosis	42
2.2. Sharing the News	44
2.3. Help for Families	46
2.4. What Those on the Spectrum Need at Home	48
2.5. Modifying the Home	51
2.6. Safety at Home	53

#### vi CONTENTS

	2.7. Safety in the Community	56
	2.8. Adaptations at Family Events	59
	2.9. Adaptations for Errands and Outings	61
	2.10. Adaptations While Traveling	63
	2.11. Helping Your Child Learn at Home	66
	2.12. Advocating for Your Child	70
3.	Checklists for Teachers	75
	Introduction	77
	3.1. What to Do If You Think a Student Is on the Spectrum	79
	3.2. Needs of Students with Autism	81
	3.3. Helpful Habits of Mind for Teachers	83
	3.4. Learning About Autism	86
	3.5. Encouraging Self-Advocacy	89
	3.6. Addressing Student Fascinations and Passions in	
	the Classroom	91
	3.7. Supporting Students Who Seek Perfection	94
	3.8. Supporting Students Who Resist or Refuse to Do Work	96
	3.9. Helping Students Cope with Anxiety	98
	3.10. Building a Supportive Classroom Community	100
	3.11. Creating a Comfortable Classroom	103
	3.12. Giving Clear Directions in the Classroom	110
	3.13. Providing Structure in the Classroom	112
	3.14. Creating Lessons with Students with Autism in Mind	115
	3.15. Creating More Accessible Whole-Class Discussions	
	and Lectures	118
	3.16. Creating Assessments Appropriate for Students with	
	Autism	120
	3.17. Supports and Strategies for Literacy Lessons	124
	3.18. Supports and Strategies for Math Lessons	129
	3.19. Helping Students Manage Homework	132
	3.20. Making Within-School Transitions Easier for Students	135
	3.21. Making School-to-School Transitions Easier for Students	137
	3.22. Preventing Behavior Struggles in the Classroom	139
	3.23. Don'ts for Working with Students with Autism	142
	3.24. Helping Students with Autism Shine	144

4.	More Helpful Strategies for Home and School	147
	Introduction	148
	4.1. To Keep in Mind for Toddlers and Preschoolers	150
	4.2. To Keep in Mind for School-Age Children	152
	4.3. To Keep in Mind for Adolescents and Teenagers	154
	4.4. Possible Members of a Support Team	158
	4.5. Strategies for Encouraging and Facilitating	
	Communication	160
	4.6. Strategies for Supporting Those Without Reliable	
	Communication	164
	4.7. Strategies for Encouraging and Supporting Social	
	Relationships	168
	4.8. Strategies for Building Social Skills	171
	4.9. Addressing Movement Differences	173
	4.10. Addressing Sensory Issues: Visual	177
	4.11. Addressing Sensory Issues: Tactile	179
	4.12. Addressing Sensory Issues: Auditory	181
	4.13. Addressing Sensory Issues: Olfactory	183
	4.14. Strategies for Teaching and Learning	185
	4.15. Promoting and Teaching Organization	187
	4.16. Helping Those on the Spectrum Cope	
	with Change	190
	4.17. Addressing Challenging Behavior	192
	4.18. Strategies for Coping in Crisis	194
5.	Helpful Resources for Parents and Teachers	197
	Introduction	198
	5.1. Recommended Videos	200
	5.2. Recommended Books	202
	5.3. Recommended Web Sites	210
	5.4. Recommended Vendors	220
	5.5. Recommended Organizations	225
	References	229
	Index	231

To those on the spectrum and their families who share freely, teach patiently, and inspire us to think differently

### Acknowledgments

Many people helped us in the conceptualization and completion of this book, especially our friends and colleagues on the spectrum who teach us, challenge us, and help us to help others. In particular, we would like to acknowledge Jordan Ackerman, Jamie Burke, Michael John Carley, Judy Endow, Dena Gassner, Ruth Elaine Hane, Stephen Hinkle, Eugene Marcus, Barbara Moran, Jerry Newport, Sue Rubin, Jenn Seybert, Stephen Shore, and Liane Holliday Willey.

In addition, our spouses and children supported our work on this project by allowing us to write, proofread, edit, and chat on the phone even when it meant cutting into time that belongs to them. Thank you, Todd, Erma, Willa, Janet, Emma, Evan, and Brendan.

#### **About the Authors**

**Dr. Paula Kluth** is a consultant, advocate, researcher, and best-selling author whose specialties include differentiated instruction and supporting students with autism and those with significant disabilities in inclusive classrooms. A former university professor, Kluth now serves as an independent consultant working with educators, advocacy groups, and the families of students with disabilities.

Kluth is the author or coauthor of numerous books, including "You're Going to Love This Kid!" Teaching Students with Autism in the Inclusive Classroom (Brookes, 2003); "Just Give Him the Whale!" 20 Ways to Use Fascinations, Areas of Expertise, and Strengths to Support Students with Autism (coauthored with Patrick Schwarz; Brookes, 2008); Joyful Learning: Active and Collaborative Learning in the Inclusive Classroom (coauthored with Alice Udvari-Solner; Corwin, 2007), and "A Land We Can Share": Teaching Literacy to Students with Autism (coauthored with Kelly Chandler-Olcott; Brookes, 2007).

To contact Kluth for consulting or speaking engagements, please go to www.paulakluth.com.

John Shouse is parent to three children, including Evan, a thirteen-year-old son with autism. Shouse became involved in advocacy soon after Evan's diagnosis at age two. Shouse served as president of the Autism Society of Middle Tennessee for six years and for four years as a vice chair of the national board of the Autism Society of America. A 2003 graduate of Partners in Policymaking Leadership Institute, Shouse has been a passionate

advocate for inclusive educational practices in local school districts across Tennessee and nationally. He is a frequent speaker at national and regional conferences on the special issues faced by fathers of children with autism and other disabilities and also on the joys and challenges of grandparenting a child with disabilities.

#### Introduction

With so much to know about autism, Aspeger syndrome, and life "on the spectrum," it is hard for those with autism labels, their families, and their teachers to know where to begin in a search for answers. In the past, it was difficult to find information anywhere. In the last few decades, there has been an onslaught of information, but not all of it has been as useful or as sensitive as we think it should be.

For this reason, we sat down to write a book that could give people quick answers and basic information in a way that is not only helpful but also thoughtful, informed, respectful, and accessible. We drew heavily from the words and experiences of people on the spectrum in order to create our recommendations and suggestions. We also looked at relevant research and kept our own lived experiences in mind. We think the result is a straightforward guide that will give readers a place to start when seeking answers about diagnosis, health and safety, life in the community and the home, teaching and learning, schooling, and relationships.

The first section of *The Autism Checklist* is about the label and diagnosis itself and contains information on characteristics, diagnostic tools, and related conditions. Two other sections of the book are designed to meet the needs of different populations. One section is devoted entirely to the needs of school personnel and will help teachers, paraprofessionals, therapists, social workers, psychologists, and administrators meet the unique needs of the student on the spectrum. More than anything else, we wrote the

lists in this section with the aim of inspiring educators to create more relevant and gentle supports for students on the spectrum as well as more responsive classrooms. Another section was created for people on the spectrum and their parents. Our wish for this section was to provide suggestions that families can use to create experiences that are more safe, peaceful, and enjoyable. In this section, we cover everything from making the home comfortable to preparing for travel to advocating for your school-age child. Following these two sections, the reader will find a collection of lists offering "More Helpful Strategies for Home and School." The lists in this section relate to topics including, but not limited to, sensory issues, movement differences, communication, and helping individuals deal with stress and change. Because we know this book is likely to be a first-stop resource for our readers, the entire final section of the book is devoted to our recommendations for further study and exploration.

No matter your experience with or knowledge of autism, we believe you will find some tip, morsel of information, or resource in this book that answers a question, affirms a belief, or provides new insight. Moreover, we hope we can help you learn about and understand not only autism but the *individual* on the spectrum who is in your life.

# The Autism Checklist

# 1

# BASIC INFORMATION ON AUTISM AND ASPERGER SYNDROME

#### Introduction

- 1.1. What We Know About Autism
- 1.2. What Do We Mean by the Autism Spectrum?
- 1.3. Conditions Commonly Associated with Autism
- 1.4. Positive Traits Associated with Autism
- 1.5. Early Indicators of Autism
- 1.6. Autism Myths Versus Autism Facts
- 1.7. Tools Used in Autism Screening and Diagnosis
- 1.8. Social Differences
- 1.9. Communication Differences
- 1.10. Movement Differences
- 1.11. Sensory Differences and Sensitivity
- 1.12. Passions, Interests, and Rituals

#### Introduction

Autism is a fairly new diagnosis and has only been identified and studied since the 1940s. In every subsequent year more has been learned about autism and the autism spectrum, but most of what we know today has been learned in the last few decades. Families who had children in the 1950s, 1960s, and 1970s thus had a very different experience with diagnosis, treatment, and education than most families have today.

The past ten years in particular have seen an explosion of newspaper and magazine articles, books (including autobiographies), television programs, movies, and research studies on autism and Asperger syndrome. We know more than ever before, but at the same time this label and the disability are so new that our ignorance still surpasses our knowledge.

Adding to the difficulty of defining autism is considerable disagreement in the field about terminology, labeling, and the nature of life on the spectrum. Some camps, for instance, see autism as a disability, disorder, and collection of deficits. Others see it as a collection of differences, some valuable and useful, and others challenging. Even people on the spectrum may disagree about these conceptualizations, with some desiring a cure and others feeling pride in their diagnosis and valuing their autistic characteristics. And some have mixed feelings on the topic, feeling frustrated by symptoms of autism but grateful for the gifts it brings. We feel strongly that individuals on the spectrum, those who love them, those who support them, and those who engage in research on autism and Asperger syndrome must be aware of this diversity and not presume that any one of these perspectives is shared by everyone in the community. It should also be noted that not everyone on the spectrum experiences autism in the same way, so it is not only our worldviews but actual manifestations of autism that varv.

These particular differences made writing Section One particularly difficult, even from the starting point of deciding what

language to use in our definitions and descriptions of the autism spectrum. We have handled this problem in many different ways. First of all, we use several different labels in this section in an attempt to illustrate the different ways people are seen and described in the literature. We sometimes talk about the *autism spectrum* and other times use *autism and Asperger syndrome*. The word *disorder*, however, is not used in this book at all, because we feel strongly that it is too limiting and, for some, it is clear a misnomer.

Another choice we have made in an attempt to honor the various ways our audience may see or understand autism is to keep our language fairly neutral (for example, using differences instead of deficits). We also feel this language is more precise, because those on the spectrum often have as many curious and unique abilities as they do struggles in the areas often seen as deficit areas. We have also tried to be fairly tentative when discussing what we know about autism, because it is constantly changing. Finally, as a researcher (Paula) and a parent of a child with autism (John), we tried to bring at least two different vantage points to the construction of these lists. To get a third and absolutely key perspective—the views of people on the spectrum themselves—we relied on observations from our own lives. conversations with friends and colleagues on the spectrum, and dozens of autobiographical works by people with autism and Asperger syndrome.

We hope the twelve lists included in Section One will clear up some of the confusion you may have about autism, Asperger syndrome, and related diagnoses. Because the autism spectrum is very complex and diverse, we have included several lists that are designed to simply provide information on the fundamentals of the autism spectrum, as in What We Know About Autism and What Do We Mean by the Autism Spectrum? One features conditions associated with autism, and a fourth contains all the positive traits associated with life on the spectrum. The final list that offers readers basic information is called Autism Myths Versus

Autism Facts and deals with misinformation about many aspects of autism including cognitive abilities, savant-type behavior and skills, and social tendencies.

Two lists in this section are reserved specifically for information on diagnosis and screening. One is dedicated to the early signs of autism and covers four different areas: language and communication, social skills, sensory issues, and behavior. The other features a range of tools used in screenings and in comprehensive evaluations.

The rest of the lists provide information on the various markers of autism, including communication differences; social differences; movement differences; sensory differences; and passions, interests, and fascinations.

We hope this opening section provides some clarification, answers questions, and sets up readers to learn and understand from the rest of the book.

#### 1.1. What We Know About Autism

In 1943, Leo Kanner published the first paper identifying what we know today as *autism*. Kanner observed children who did not fit the patterns of other known disabilities. He thus invented a new category, which he called "early infantile autism." Independent of Kanner, Hans Asperger was making the same discoveries at the same time, but the patients he identified all had speech; Asperger syndrome, therefore, was used to describe that population. Following are some of the basic principles we have learned since the 1940s about autism and Asperger syndrome:

- Some people, including many on the spectrum, do not see autism and Asperger syndrome as disabilities. Some, in fact, understand autism as a natural part of what it is to be human, and many celebrate the gifts that are part of life on the spectrum.
- In 2007, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention released data indicating that about one in 150 eight-year-old children in the United States was on the autism spectrum.
- Autism is sometimes called a developmental disability because it develops before age three and causes delays or significant differences in a variety of areas throughout the person's life span.
- The cause or causes of autism are unknown.
- Genetic origins of autism are suggested by two things: studies of twins and an increased incidence among siblings. It is unknown, however, exactly what role genetics play and whether there is a genetic root for each case of autism.
- Autism is diagnosed using interviews, observational tools, and checklists. There are no biological markers for autism or Asperger syndrome. There are no blood tests, brain scans, or other medical assessments that can be used to diagnose autism.

- Autism is often diagnosed by age three and in some cases as early as eighteen months. Researchers are currently working on assessments that could lead to diagnosis at age one or before.
- Many on the spectrum are not diagosed at all in childhood; it is not unusual for people to be diagnosed in adulthood (sometimes because their child gets a diagnosis). This is especially true for those with Asperger syndrome.
- Many more autism spectrum labels were assigned in the 1990s and 2000s than in previous decades. Between 1994 and 2006, the number of school-age children classified as being on the spectrum increased from 22,664 to 211,610. (IDEA data, 2009)
- Currently there are no medications that can "cure" autism or the related symptoms. Some medications, however, are helpful in easing or relieving related symptoms. For example, fluoxetine (Prozac) and sertraline (Zoloft) are approved by the FDA for children age seven and older with obsessivecompulsive disorder.
- There are many stereotypes associated with autism and Asperger syndrome. For instance, people may believe that everyone on the spectrum resists human touch. Or that they all love music. We know now, of course, that those on the spectrum are individuals with their own needs, abilities, gifts, talents, and challenges. There is no one set of difficulties that those with autism and Asperger syndrome experience and no one set of supports that will help every person with an autism spectrum label.

# 1.2. What Do We Mean by the Autism Spectrum?

The term *autism spectrum* is used to describe conditions including autism, Asperger syndrome, pervasive developmental disorder/not otherwise specified (PDD/NOS), childhood disintegrative disorder, Rett syndrome, and fragile X syndrome. Because different individuals with autism have very different symptoms, characteristics, and abilities, but also some core commonalities, autism has been described as being part of a spectrum. Following are some basic features of the conditions most commonly included in the autism spectrum:

- People with autism tend to have differences—some subtle
  and some very significant—in at least two realms: social and
  communication. They are also characterized as having
  unique differences in behaviors related to movement,
  objects, and routines.
- Asperger syndrome is characterized by differences in social interaction and patterns of behavior, interests, and activities, but no general delay in language, cognitive development, or adaptive behavior.
- PDD/NOS is diagnosed when the criteria are not met for autism or Asperger syndrome, but the individual exhibits the same types of differences as individuals with those diagnoses (such as differences in social skills, differences in communication skills, or differences in behaviors related to movement, objects, and routines). These individuals may, for instance, have speech problems, engage in repetitive behaviors, or have auditory sensitivity.
- Rett syndrome is also housed under the spectrum because individuals with this share a lot of characteristics with people with autism and Asperger syndrome. It is a unique developmental disability that is recognized in infancy and seen almost always in girls. It is often misdiagnosed as

- autism. Those with Rett syndrome exhibit symptoms similar to those diagnosed with autism, including repetitive movements (such as wringing or clasping their hands), gaze avoidance, and toe walking. These individuals also have weakened muscle tone and motor problems.
- Childhood disintegrative disorder is another condition that can also be found under the autism umbrella. Those labeled with childhood disintegrative disorder develop typically until age three or four and then seem to lose social, communication, and other skills. Childhood disintegrative disorder is often confused with late-onset autism because both involve normal development followed by a loss of skills. The differences—according to the medical profession—between autism and childhood disintegrative disorder are that autism typically occurs at an earlier age, it is less rare, and the loss of skills appears less dramatic.
- Fragile X is sometimes mentioned as part of the autism spectrum because some, but not all, individuals with that disability also have autism. Symptoms include characteristic physical and behavioral features and delays in speech and language development. Fragile X can be passed on in a family by individuals who have no apparent signs of this genetic condition. Fragile X is more common in boys. Physical characteristics include wider and longer ears and, in boys, enlarged testicles. Like those with autism, individuals with fragile X syndrome may have sensory motor problems, anxiety, and learning differences and may engage in repetitive behaviors.